

Do not scale



- THIS DRAWING IS ONLY TO BE USED FOR THE

- BE REMOVED/DEMOLISHED ARE TO INCLUDE
- WORKS, THE CONTRACTOR IS TO INVENTORY THE CONTENTS IN THE PRESENCE OF THE ER THE INVENTORY. A PHOTOGRAPHIC SURVEY CONDITION OF THE BUILDING/SHED PRIOR TO

T2	16/12/22	AG	SW	KL
T1	19/07/21	CD	KOS	RK
P2	23/07/20	SB	DR	RK
P1	21/02/20	SB	DR	RK
Rev	Date	Ву	Chkd	Appd



	GENERAL SITE CLEARANCE AREA		EXIS TO E
	JAPANESE KNOTWEED		EXIS
	JAPANESE KNOTWEED - POTENTIAL ZONE OF RHIZOME INFLUENCE		PRC
•	SLUICE VALVE CHAMBER AND COVER TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF		EXIS APP
-	EXISTING TELECOMS CHAMBER (INC. COVER) TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF	\bigcirc	EXIS DISF
	EXISTING GULLY TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF	$\tilde{\mathbf{O}}$	
LP	LIGHTING COLUMN TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF	$\tilde{\mathbf{O}}$	EXIS
RS	SIGNAGE TO BE REMOVED & STORED FOR REINSTATEMENT	\mathbf{O}	EXIS
	EXISTING BIN TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF (INCLUDING FOUNDATIONS)	\mathbf{O}	
-	CONTROL BOX TO BE TAKEN UP AND REMOVED TO STORE	0	
•	EXISTING MANHOLE CHAMBER (INC. COVER) TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF	•	REN (0.3)
	EXISTING GATE TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF	•	EXIS REN
	EXISTING BITUMEN SURFACE TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF	•	EXIS REN
	EXISTING CONCRETE SLAB/SURFACING TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF	•	(1m EXIS REM
	EXISTING KERBING TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF	•	(2m EXIS REM (3m
dnance Survey	/ Ireland Licence No. EN 0002820		

EXISTING FENCING / RAILING / PARAPET TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF
EXISTING MASONRY WALL TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF
PROPOSED SAWCUT OF EXISTING SURFACE
EXISTING CONCRETE WALL (AND FENCING IF APPLICABLE) TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF
EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF (0.3m - 0.5m GIRTH)
EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF (0.5m - 1m GIRTH)
EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF (1m - 2m GIRTH)
EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF (2m - 3m GIRTH)
EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF (3m - 5m GIRTH)
EXISTING STUMP TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF (0.3m - 0.5m GIRTH)
EXISTING STUMP TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF (0.5m - 1m GIRTH)
EXISTING STUMP TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF



- FIXTURES, REFER TO DRAWING 2-040 SERIES.
- WORKS, THE CONTRACTOR IS TO INVENTORY THE CONTENTS IN THE PRESENCE OF THE ER THE INVENTORY. A PHOTOGRAPHIC SURVEY CONDITION OF THE BUILDING/SHED PRIOR TO





Do not scale

N	NOTES:
	1. FOR GENERAL NOTES, REFER TO DRAWING 5-000-00.
	2. THIS DRAWING IS ONLY TO BE USED FOR THE DESIGN ELEMENT IDENTIFIED IN THE TITLE BOX. ALL OTHER INFORMATION SHOW ON THE DRAWING IS TO BE CONSIDERED
	 UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL REMOVED/DEMOLISHED MATERIALS ARE TO BE REMOVED FROM SITE AND DISPOSED OF TO AN APPROPRIATELY LICENSED WASTE DISPOSAL SITE.
	 THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL OTHER CONTRACT DRAWINGS AND THE WORKS REQUIREMENT (APPENDIX 2/1). REFER TO DRAWING SERIES 4-080 AND 4-090 FOR PROPOSED CIV(II (STRUCTURAL WORKS)
	 5. REFER TO WORKS REQUIREMENTS FOR
	 6. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL ITEMS ARI 10 DE DEOTEOTED AND UDUELD
	 TO BE PROTECTED AND OPHELD. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL ITEMS TO DE DEMOVIED (DEMOUSLED ADE TO INCLUDE)
	ASSOCIATED FOUNDATIONS.
	Z
Footpath (Conc)	
1/	
	KEY PLAN
	T1 19/07/21 CD KOS RK
	P3 07/08/20 SB DR RK P2 03/04/20 SB DR RK P1 21/02/20 SB DR RK
	Rev Date By Chkd Appd
	ARIJP <i>inscadal Éireann</i> Project Ireland
	One Albert Quay
	Tel +353 (0)21 422 3200 www.arup.com
	Client
	OPW
	Project Title
	Glashaboy River (Glanmire/Sallybrook) Drainage Scheme
	Drawing Title Area 3 Site Clearance and Demolition (Sheet 2 of 6)
	Scale at A1 1·250
	Role Civil Structures
	Suitability Tender Arup Job No Rev
	234334-00 T1
	J-U+U-U2

(Tarmac)

М





М		N
LEGEND:		
	GENE CLEAF	RAL SITE RANCE AREA
	EXIST TO BE DISPC	ING BITUMEN SURFACE REMOVED AND DSED OF
	EXIST REMO	ING KERBING TO BE VED AND DISPOSED OF
	EXIST TO BE DISPC	ING FENCING / RAILING REMOVED AND DSED OF
	JAPAN	IESE KNOTWEED
	JAPAN POTEN INFLUE	IESE KNOTWEED - ITIAL ZONE OF RHIZOME ENCE

NOTES:

- 1. FOR GENERAL NOTES, REFER TO DRAWING 5-000-00.
- 2. THIS DRAWING IS ONLY TO BE USED FOR THE DESIGN ELEMENT IDENTIFIED IN THE TITLE BOX. ALL OTHER INFORMATION SHOW ON THE DRAWING IS TO BE CONSIDERED INDICATIVE ONLY.
- 3. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL REMOVED/DEMOLISHED MATERIALS ARE TO BE REMOVED FROM SITE AND DISPOSED OF TO AN APPROPRIATELY LICENSED WASTE DISPOSAL SITE.
- 4. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL OTHER CONTRACT DRAWINGS AND THE WORKS REQUIREMENTS (APPENDIX 2/1). REFER TO DRAWING SERIES 4-080 AND 4-090 FOR PROPOSED CIVIL/STRUCTURAL WORKS.
- 5. REFER TO WORKS REQUIREMENTS FOR DETAILS OF EXISTING TREES.
- 6. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL ITEMS ARE TO BE PROTECTED AND UPHELD.
- 7. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL ITEMS TO BE REMOVED/DEMOLISHED ARE TO INCLUDE ASSOCIATED FOUNDATIONS.



T1	19/07/21	CD	KOS	RK
P3	07/08/20	SB	DR	RK
P2	03/04/20	SB	DR	RK
P1	21/02/20	SB	DR	RK
Rev	Date	Ву	Chkd	Appd

















Site Clearance And Demolition (Sheet 4 of 6)

Scale at A1 1:100 Role Civil Structures Suitability Tender Arup Job No

234334-00

Name **3-040-04**

Rev

T1



© Ordnance Survey Ireland/ Government of Ireland Do not scale

TO AN APPROPRIATELY LICENSED WASTE CONJUNCTION WITH ALL OTHER CONTRACT DRAWINGS AND THE WORKS REQUIREMENTS (APPENDIX 2/1). REFER TO DRAWING SERIES 6. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL ITEMS ARE BE REMOVED/DEMOLISHED ARE TO INCLUDE

T1	19/07/21	CD	KOS	RK
P4	07/08/20	SB	DR	RK
P3	03/04/20	SB	DR	RK
P2	21/02/20	SB	DR	RK
P1	18/11/19	SB	DR	RK
Rev	Date	Ву	Chkd	Appd

© Arup

EGEND:	NOTES:
GENERAL SITE CLEARANCE AREA	1. FOR GENERAL NOTES, REFER TO DRAWING 5-000-00.
Image: Second state JAPANESE KNOTWEED JAPANESE KNOTWEED - POTENTIAL ZONE OF RHIZOME INFLUENCE 40mm - 100mm DEPTH OF EXISTING	2. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL REMOVED/DEMOLISHED MATERIALS ARE TO BE REMOVED FROM SITE AND DISPOSED OF TO AN APPROPRIATELY LICENSED WASTE DISPOSAL SITE.
BITUMEN SURFACE TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF 200mm DEPTH OF EXISTING BITUMEN SURFACE AND SUB-BASE TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF	3. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL OTHER CONTRACT DRAWINGS AND THE CONTRACT SPECIFICATION (APPENDIX 2/1). REFER TO DRAWING SERIES 4-080 AND 4-090 FOR
EXISTING CONCRETE SLAB / SURFACING TO BE REMOVED AND	PROPOSED CIVIL/STRUCTURAL WORKS.
PROPOSED OF	DETAILS OF EXISTING TREES.
EXISTING STONEWORK WALL TO BE	5. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL ITEMS ARE TO BE PROTECTED AND UPHELD.
DRAWING SERIES 4-080 . STONE TO BE REMOVED TO STORAGE AND USED	6. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL ITEMS TO BE REMOVED/DEMOLISHED ARE TO INCLUDE
FOR CLADDING REINSTATEMENT EXISTING STONEWORK WALL TO BE	ASSOCIATED FOUNDATIONS.
TO DRAWING SERIES 4-080 . STONE TO BE REMOVED TO STORAGE AND	
USED FOR CLADDING REINSTATEMENT	
EXISTING 254 x 127 HALF BATTER KERB TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF	
EXISTING MANHOLE CHAMBER (INC. COVER) TO BE REMOVED	
AND DISPOSED OF EXISTING GULLY TO BE	
REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF EXISTING TELECOMS CHAMBER	
(INC. COVER) TO BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF	
	KEY PLAN
	T1 16/12/22 AG SW KL Rev Date By Chkd Appd
	ARUP In the second difference of the second di
	One Albert Quay Cork, Ireland Tel +353 (0)21 422 3200 www.arup.com
	Client
	OPW
	Project Title
	Glashaboy River (Glanmire/Sallybrook) Drainage Scheme
	Drawing Title
	Site Clearance and Demolition Sheet 2 of 2
	Scale at A1 1:250 Role Civil Structures
	Suitability Tender
	234334-00 T1
	4-040-02
	© Aru

М

Appendix I EMG Additional Mitigation Measures

Cork City Council, Cork County Council and Office of Public Works

Glashaboy River (Glanmire/Sallybrook) Drainage Scheme

EMG Additional Mitigation Measures

Reference:

Issue | 25 April 2023

This report takes into account the particular instructions and requirements of our client. It is not intended for and should not be relied upon by any third party and no responsibility is undertaken to any third party.

Job number 234334-00

Ove Arup & Partners Ireland Limited One Albert Quay Cork T12 X8N6 Ireland arup.com

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Tree Felling Works	1
3.	Post-Confirmation Design Changes	2
4.	Change to the Period for In-stream Works	7
4.1	Cois na Gleann	7
4.2	Beach Hill	10
4.3	Springmount Stream	11
5.	Area 4 Additional Works	15
5.1	Summary of Post-confirmation change	15
5.2	Post-confirmation Surveys	15
5.3	Biodiversity	17
5.4	Other Environmental Factors	19

Tables

Table 1: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures for tree felling works	1
Table 2: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures	2
Table 3: Summary of seasonal biodiversity constraints	7
Table 4: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures – biodiversity	8
Table 5: Biodiversity features of note	8
Table 6: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note	9
Table 7: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures for biodiversity	10
Table 8: Biodiversity features of note	10
Table 9: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note	11
Table 10: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures	12
Table 11: Biodiversity features of note	12
Table 12: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note	13
Table 13: Summary of Ecological Survey (7 December 2022)	15
Table 14: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures for biodiversity	17
Table 15: Biodiversity features of note	18
Table 16: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note	19

Figures

Figure 1: Fossitt (2000) Habitats within the additional site works area. Not to scale	17
---	----

Drawings

No table of figures entries found.

Pictures

No table of figures entries found.

Photographs

No table of figures entries found.

Attachments

No table of figures entries found.

Appendices

No table of contents entries found.

1. Introduction

This appendix sets out all additional environmental mitigation and monitoring measures for the scheme as approved by the Environmental Monitoring Group (EMG) for post-confirmation changes, in compliance with Condition 2 applied to the decision to confirm the scheme by the Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform.

For some environmental factors reviewed in the context of the post-confirmation changes, there has not been a need for additional mitigation or monitoring measures however all existing mitigation measures set out in the CEMP (Issue 2) remain valid and shall be implemented by the contractor.

Where relevant environmental 'features of note' are included to highlight any environmental sensitivities and any relevant applicable existing mitigation measures that should be considered in carrying out such works.

2. Tree Felling Works

The planned tree felling is shown on the following drawing No. 1-04-01 to 1-04-06; 2-04-01 to 2-04-06; 3-04-01 to 3-04-06; and 4-04-01 to 4-04-06.

Table 1 sets out the additional mitigation and monitoring measures agreed by the EMG for the postconfirmation changes made to the planned tree felling works on the scheme.

EIAR	Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note
Population and Human Health	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Landscape & Visual	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Roads & Traffic	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Noise & Vibration	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Air Quality & Climate	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Biodiversity	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Soils, Geology and Hydrogeology	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Archaeology, Architectural, and Cultural Heritage	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
	Note: Sallybrook House is listed in the National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH), Reg. No. 20906332.
Material Assets	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Hydrology	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Major Accidents and Disasters	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.

Table 1: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures for tree felling works

3. Post-Confirmation Design Changes

Table 2 sets out the additional mitigation and monitoring measures agreed by the EMG for the post-confirmation design changes made to the scheme.

Where relevant environmental 'features of note' are included to highlight any environmental sensitivities and any relevant applicable existing mitigation measures that should be considered in carrying out such works.

Drawing No.	Post-confirmation change	Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note
1-050-04	Pumping station relocation at	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
	Sanybrook industrial estate	Note for Biodiversity and NIS:
		• Biodiversity: Section 7.4.11 of the EIAR Addendum (2020) sets out mitigation for such works, therefore the same mitigation measures in the EIAR will apply.
		Note for Archaeology, Architectural, and Cultural Heritage:
		• Sallybrook House is listed in the National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH), Reg. No. 20906332.
1-050-04	New domestic wastewater treatment	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
	replace existing historic septic tank.	Note for Biodiversity and NIS:
		• Mitigation measures to be implemented during instream works are described in Section 5.2.1 of the CEMP, Section 7.4 and 7.5.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020) and Section 6.8 of the EIAR (2018).
		Note for Hydrology:
		• Mitigation measures to be implemented for water quality works are described in Section 5.8.1 of the CEMP, Section 12.7.1.1 of the EIAR (2018) and Section 6.3 and Section 6.4.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020).
		Note for Noise and Vibration:
		• The contractor will be responsible for engaging with the landowner through the Community Liaison Officer. Section 9.6.1 of the EIAR (2018) states that "works in proximity to sensitive receptors, such as the Eurofins facility will be carried out at an optimum time to minimise disturbance and potential impacts."

Table 2: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures

Cork City Council, Cork County Council and Office of Public Works | Issue | 25 April 2023 | Ove Arup & Partners Ireland Limited Glashaboy River (Glanmire/Sallybrook) Drainage Scheme

Drawing No.	Post-confirmation change	Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note
		Note for Archaeology, Architectural, and Cultural Heritage:
		• Sallybrook House is listed in the National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH), Reg. No. 20906332. The distance of the pumping station from the house will not change.
1-050-05	Increase in the height of flood defence wall around channel chainage 5075 by 120mm.	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
1-080-06	Flood defence wall construction changed from reinforced concrete to sheet pile wall (for a 44m length section).	 No additional mitigation or monitoring measures. <u>Note for Biodiversity and NIS:</u> Mitigation measures to be implemented during instream works are described in Section 5.2.1 of the CEMP, Section 7.4 and 7.5.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020) and Section 6.8 of the EIAR (2018). <u>Note for Hydrology:</u> Mitigation measures to be implemented for water quality works are described in Section 5.8.1 of the CEMP, Section 12.7.1.1 of the EIAR (2018) and Section 6.3 and Section 6.4.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020). <u>Note for Noise and Vibration:</u> The contractor will be responsible for engaging with the landowner through the Community Liaison Officer. Section 9.6.1 of the EIAR (2018) states that "works in proximity to sensitive receptors, such as the Eurofins facility will be carried out at an optimum time to minimise disturbance and potential impacts."
1-080-07	Increase in the height of the flood defence wall by 50mm around channel chainage 4875.	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
2-080-10	Realignment of wall to accommodate road widening (Hazelwood Avenue) and junction works and increase to the length of the flood relief culvert to accommodate Local Infrastructure Housing Activation Fund (LIHAF) works.	 No additional mitigation or monitoring measures. <u>Note for Biodiversity and NIS:</u> Mitigation measures to be implemented during instream works are described in Section 5.2.1 of the CEMP, Section 7.4 and 7.5.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020) and Section 6.8 of the EIAR (2018). <u>Note for Archaeology, Architectural, and Cultural Heritage:</u> The contractor will apply all mitigation measures including archaeological monitoring as described in Section 13.5.1 of the EIAR (2018). <u>Note for Hydrology:</u>
Cork City Council, Cork Issue 25 April 2023 C	County Council and Office of Public Works Ove Arup & Partners Ireland Limited	Glashaboy River (Glanmire/Sallybrook) Drainage Scheme EMG Additional Mitigation Measures Page 3

Drawing No.	Post-confirmation change	Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note
		• Mitigation measures to be implemented for water quality works are described in Section 5.8.1 of the CEMP, Section 12.7.1.1 of the EIAR (2018) and Section 6.3 and Section 6.4.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020).
2-080-40	Widening Hazelwood Avenue bridge at the by the addition of a new section to the upstream face to accommodate the LIHAF works.	 No additional mitigation or monitoring measures. <u>Note for Biodiversity and NIS:</u> Mitigation and monitoring measures to be implemented during instream works are described in Section 5.2.1 of the CEMP, Section 7.4 and 7.5.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020) and Section 6.8 of the EIAR (2018). <u>Note for Archaeology, Architectural, and Cultural Heritage:</u> The contractor will apply all mitigation measures including archaeological monitoring as described in Section 13.5.1 of the EIAR (2018). <u>Note for Hydrology:</u> Mitigation and monitoring measures to be implemented for water quality works are described in Section 5.8.1 of the CEMP, Section 12.7.1.1 of the EIAR (2018) and Section 6.3 and Section 6.4.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020). <u>Note for Noise and Vibration:</u> The contractor will be responsible for engaging with the landowner through the Community Liaison Officer. Section 9.6.1 of the EIAR (2018) states that "works in proximity to sensitive receptors, such as the Eurofins facility will be carried out at an optimum time to minimise disturbance and potential impacts."
2-050-02	Pumping station relocated to channel chainage 3894 from 3805 to facilitate easier maintenance and less interference with property owner.	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
2-050-05	Removal of foul sewer pumping station from Meadowbrook Estate.	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
2-050-04 and 2-050-05	Provision of new storm water sewer in Meadowbrook Estate.	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
3-070-02	Removal of surface water pumping station from Copper Valley Vue Estate	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.

Drawing No.	Post-confirmation change	Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note
3-070-02	Widening of property entrance (T45 HF53) to improve sight lines at Brooklodge Grove.	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
4-090-01 and 4- 080-02	Increase in the height of the flood defence wall (by 100mm) over an 84m long section of wall.	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
4-080-02	Additional section of flood defence wall (12m) to be added to northern extent to cater for minor increase in defence level in this reach.	 No additional mitigation or monitoring measures. <u>Note for Biodiversity and NIS:</u> The contractor will be obliged to carry out vegetation removal works as described in Section 5.7 of EIAR Addendum (2020) Chapter 5.6.2.2 Construction Activities and Implementation of Maintenance Activities, whereby the timing of the vegetation clearing works is described: "all vegetation clearance and site preparatory works will be conducted outside of the bird nesting season (1 March to 31 August inclusive) where possible. However, in the event that vegetation clearance works and/or site preparatory works are required during the bird nesting season, these will only be carried out once an advance survey has been carried out to establish whether there is any evidence of nests present, and the area proposed for clearance has been approved by a suitably qualified and experienced ecologist."
		• Section 6 of the CEMP sets out the seasonal biodiversity constraints for the scheme.
3-070-01	Provision of a new section of vehicle restraint system (Armco barrier) to an overland flow path to direct water from the road into the Glenmore Stream.	 No additional mitigation or monitoring measures. <u>Note for biodiversity:</u> The contractor will be obliged to carry out vegetation removal works as described in Section 5.7 of EIAR Addendum (2020) Chapter 5.6.2.2 Construction Activities and Implementation of Maintenance Activities, whereby the timing of the vegetation clearing works is described: "all vegetation clearance and site preparatory works will be conducted outside of the bird nesting season (1 March to 31 August inclusive) where possible. However, in the event that vegetation clearance works and/or site preparatory works are required during the bird nesting season, these will only be carried out once an advance survey has been carried out to establish whether there is any evidence of nests present, and the area proposed for clearance has been approved by a suitably qualified and experienced ecologist." Section 6 of the CEMP sets out the seasonal biodiversity constraints for the scheme.
3-080-20 and	Addition of step pools upstream of the new planned bridge at the New	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
3-070-07	Line junction.	Note for biodiversity:

Drawing No.	Post-confirmation change	Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note
		 Section 5.6.2.3 of EIAR Addendum Chapter 5 <i>Construction Activities and Implementation of Maintenance Activities</i>, includes specific mitigation measures regarding the in-stream works including the works window (July to September, inclusive) and the supervision by a suitably qualified and experienced ecologist. Mitigation and monitoring measures to be implemented during instream works are described in Section 5.2.1 of
		the CEMP, Section 7.4 and 7.5.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020) and Section 6.8 of the EIAR (2018). Note for Hydrology:
		• Mitigation and monitoring measures to be implemented for water quality works are described in Section 5.8.1 of the CEMP, Section 12.7.1.1 of the EIAR (2018) and Section 6.3 and Section 6.4.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020).

4. Change to the Period for In-stream Works

The EMG agreed that the scope of the changes (changes to period for in-stream works) for the three tributaries (Cois na Gleann, Springmount Stream and Bleach Hill stream) fall within the residual effects described in the EIAR and NIS once the mitigation measures referenced to are implemented in full.

It was found that the suggested changes (changes to timing of in-stream works) for the main channel of the Glashaboy River at Sallybrook do not fall within the residual effects for fisheries as described in the EIAR and the timing of the in-stream works shall not change from that which was assessed in the EIAR.

The in-stream works window (EIAR and suggested change), and sensitive ecological periods are summarised below in Table 3. Mitigation measures for species is not limited to avoiding works at specific times of the year and Section 6.7 of the EIAR (2018) and Section 7.4 of the EIAR RFI Addendum (2020) set out all mitigation for biodiversity that the Contractor shall be obliged to adhere to.

Months:	J	F	М	Α	М	J	J	Α	S	0	Ν	D
In-stream works windows												
EIAR / IFI guidelines (2016)												
Post-confirmation change to in-stream works window for Cois na Gleann, Springmount Stream and Bleach Hill stream.												
Sensitive ecological periods for works to avoid:												
Lamprey – spawning												
Adult Sea Trout – migrating upstream												
Juvenile (glass) eel – ascending the river usually under the cover of darkness.												
Bats – transient roosting												
Bats – main maternity season												
Birds – nesting season (1st March – 31st August)												
Otters	Mit	igatior	n not se	easona	1.							
Badger	Mitigation not seasonal.											
Invasive species	Mitigation not seasonal.											

Table 3: Summary of seasonal biodiversity constraints

4.1 Cois na Gleann

The post-confirmation change, changes the timing of the in-stream works at Cois na Gleann from the current period of July to September to an extended period of May to September (inclusive). The construction methodology will not change from that which is described in Chapter 5 *Construction Activities and Implementation of Maintenance Activities* of the EIAR RFI Addendum (2020).

4.1.1 Biodiversity

Table 4 sets out the additional mitigation and monitoring measures for biodiversity to be applied for the postconfirmation design change to the period for in-stream works at Cois na Gleann.

Table 4: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures - biodiversity

EIAR	Additional Mitigation and Monitoring Measures				
	 Fish rescue to be undertaken in advance of dry zone/ isolated area for culvert replacement work. Pumping from the dry area will be with the use of filtration system attached to discharge end of the pipe (e.g., 'Silt buster' or similar). The precise arrangement via use of the Circus Field for filtration and clarification of pumped water to be agreed in advance of work on consultation with the project ECoW and Inland Fisheries Ireland. 				
Biodiversity	• Duration of the isolation works is to be kept as short as possible.				
	• Screen the intake: Any pumps used for over-pumping must be 'fish-friendly' and fitted with appropriate screens to prevent fish being drawn into the pipe/pump.				
	• Material that has accumulated upstream of the flow barrier should be carefully removed and properly disposed of e.g., by spreading over the adjacent field. The barrier should be removed as soon as possible after it is no longer needed.				

Table 5 sets out biodiversity features that should be noted for the post-confirmation design change to the period for in-stream works at Cois na Gleann.

Table 5: Biodiversity features of note

Biodiversity	Features of note
	The Cois na Gleann stream is not considered to be particularly good habitat for migratory fish species, due to low depths and head drops which impede passage upstream, (some measures are proposed within the project remit to improve longitudinal connectivity at this location). However, an increase in the period for in-stream works may increase the relative potential impact of silt mobilisation into the main channel during May-June period. Should a silt event arise from the works at Cois na Gleann occurs during the May-June period, the magnitude of potential impacts is higher downstream because the sensitive receptors are present during the May-June period. This area is close (<65m upstream) of the main channel at Hazelwood and Meadowbrook and some key areas for spawning lamprey and the upstream migrating adult sea trout in June, refer to below.
	Sea trout ascending the system at this time of year use the pools in the lower catchment – and particularly around John O'Callaghan Park to rest in before advancing upstream.
Fisheries	While juvenile (glass) eel will ascend during the springtime window (March- May), it is usually under cover of darkness. If it is a ssumed that no night-time work is required at this location, then the migration period for glass eel is unlikely to coincide with ongoing works and associated runoff related risks from works areas. However, at this stage, the requirement for night-time works cannot be discounted given the traffic restrictions that may be required on the R615 and R639 and thus the migration period for glass eel may coincide with these works. Refer to mitigation below.
	Provided mitigation measures described in EIAR (2018) and EIAR RFI Addendum (2020) – over- pumping and filtration overland during works are correctly implemented, silt minimization should be effective and thus result in no measurable effects for the sensitive receptors described above.
	The key relevant elements of mitigation as described in the EIAR will be:
	• Daily presence of an ECoW,
	Appropriate silt filtration and over-pumping techniques, and
	• Water quality monitoring as described in section 7.4.3.6 of EIAR RFI Addendum (2020), with triggered telemetry system.
	The area around Meadowbrook is rich habitat for Otter. Surveys have shown several holts, slides and other otter signs in the area near to Cois na Gleann and downstream toward Meadowbrook. Since Otter are liable to change the location of their breeding holts year on year, it is possible that otter may be present within the footprint of proposed works for 2023.
Otter	It is thus critical that pre-works surveys and checks will be carried out in advance of any planned works within the May-June window, and that adequate time is given for any potential derogation licences where needed.
	If these procedures are correctly followed, the potential impact for otter at this location should remain within the envelope of residual impacts predicted for otter in the EIAR.
Bats	None of the culverts surveyed during the baseline surveys for this project were found to have potential for bats. As such, the potential for risk at this location is limited to tree habitats and risk associated with vegetation clearance.

Biodiversity	Features of note
	Bat will be becoming active during the May-June seasonal window and may use trees as transient roosting sites. Bat checks prior to any necessary and agreed vegetation removal (within this breeding bird season) is required.
	No additional impacts for bats at this location are foreseen within the May -June window.
Birds	The area around Meadowbrook is key habitat for protected kingfisher and for dipper nesting in the area. Works within the key breeding bird season will need to consider the risk to birds and these two species in particular which nest directly within the river corridor. Dippers construct mossy nests within crevices in stonework and riverbanks, and kingfisher nest in holes within high bare banks, such as those at Meadowbrook.
	Pre-works checks by a suitably qualified Ecologist will be required to ensure no dipper, kingfisher, or any other breeding birds are present nesting in the vicinity.
	If all mitigation measures described in the EIAR for birds are correctly carried out, then no additional impacts during the extended May-June window is foreseen.
Invasive Species	Pre-works checks will need to show that the sites are clear in advance of the proposed works, and all biosecurity protocols are correctly followed during works.
	There is no additional risk associated with the extended works window in relation to invasive species.

4.1.2 Other Environmental Factors

Table 6 sets out the additional mitigation and monitoring measures has been prescribed for this postconfirmation change. Any features of note are also included where relevant.

EIAR	Additional mitigation measures and features of note				
Population & Human Health	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.				
Landscape & Visual	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.				
Roads & Traffic	Careful consideration by the Contractor will need to be given to the timing of the works in May and June in the construction traffic management plan in order to minimise impacts on school traffic. Any temporary lane/road closure will be for a short duration only and would take place during the summer months or at other suitable times, i.e., long weekends or mid-term school holidays to minimise the impact on traffic in the area. <u>Note:</u> Section 14.6.2.1 of Chapter 14 of the 2018 EIAR set out a number of mitigation measures to minimise impacts which included temporary diversion routes, arranging the timing of road closures to coincide with off-peak times and to schedule the more disruptive elements during the summer months to coincide with the school holidays.				
Noise & Vibration	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.				
Air Quality & Climate	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.				
Soils, Geology & Hydrogeology	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.				
Archaeology, Architectural, & Cultural Heritage	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.				
Material Assets	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.				
Hydrology	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures. <u>Note:</u> Mitigation measures to be implemented for water quality works are described in Section 5.8.1 of the CEMP, Section 12.7.1.1 of the EIAR (2018) and Section 6.3 and Section 6.4.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020).				

Table 6: Additional mitigation	and monitoring measures	and features of note
--------------------------------	-------------------------	----------------------

EIAR	Additional mitigation measures and features of note
Major Accidents & Disasters	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.

4.1.3 NIS

No additional mitigation or monitoring is prescribed than what is proposed in the NIS for this postconfirmation design change. Section 5.2.1 of the CEMP sets out the mitigation and monitoring measures under the NIS.

4.2 Beach Hill

The post-confirmation change, changes the timing of the in-stream works at Bleach Hill from the current period of July to September to an extended period of May to September (inclusive). The construction methodology will not change from that which is described in Chapter 5 *Construction Activities and Implementation of Maintenance Activities* of the EIAR RFI Addendum (2020).

4.2.1 Biodiversity

Table 7 below sets out the additional mitigation and monitoring measures for biodiversity to be applied for the post-confirmation design change to the period for in-stream works at Bleach Hill.

Table 7: Additiona	I mitigation	and monitoring	measures for	biodiversity
--------------------	--------------	----------------	--------------	--------------

EIAR	Additional Mitigation and Monitoring Measures		
	 Fish rescue to be undertaken in advance of dry zone/ isolated area for culvert replacement work. Pumping from the dry area will be with the use of filtration system attached to discharge end of the pipe (e.g., 'Silt buster' or similar). The precise arrangement via use of the Circus Field for filtration and clarification of pumped water to be agreed in advance of work on consultation with the project ECoW and Inland Fisheries Ireland. 		
Biodiversity	 Duration of the isolation works is to be kept as short as possible. Screen the intake: Any pumps used for over-pumping must be 'fish-friendly' and fitted with appropriate screens to prevent fish being drawn into the pipe/pump. 		
	• Material that has accumulated upstream of the flow barrier should be carefully removed and properly disposed of e.g., by spreading over the adjacent field. The barrier should be removed as soon as possible after it is no longer needed.		

Table 8 sets out biodiversity features that should be noted for the post-confirmation design change to the period for in-stream works at Bleach Hill.

Biodiversity	Features of note
Fisheries	The Fisheries Habitat Value (FHV) was classed as 'Moderate' during the baseline surveys of the catchment, with the breakdown described as moderate for fish nursery and holding habitat, but of low value for spawning. The stream is located some 500m upstream of the Sallybrook fisheries sampling point (classed as 'Poor' FHV) and over 700m from the Mill Race sampling point (classed as 'Good').
	The upstream Bleach Hill location and its relatively small stream size means that the risk of impact is lower than at other locations, and that control on sediment mobilization is simpler and more easily achieved.
	It is thus considered that no significant additional risk within the extended May-June works window is expected and provided all mitigation as escribed in the EIAR (2018) and EIAR RFI Addendum (2020) are correctly and effectively implemented the residual impacts remain as previously predicted.
Otter	If all pre-works surveys, checks and mitigation as described in EIAR are correctly followed, the potential impact for otter at this location should remain within the envelope of residual impacts predicted for otter in the EIAR.

Table 8: Biodiversity features of note

Biodiversity	Features of note
Bats	None of the culverts surveyed during the baseline surveys for this project were found to have potential for bats. As such, the potential for risk at this location is limited to tree habitats and risk associated with vegetation clearance.
	Bats will be becoming active during the May-June seasonal window and may use trees as transient roosting sites. Bat checks prior to any necessary and agreed vegetation removal (within this breeding bird season) is required.
	No additional impacts for bats at this location are foreseen within the May -June window.
Birds	If all mitigation measures described in the EIAR for birds are correctly carried out, then no additional impacts during the extended May-June window is foreseen.
Invasive species	The area of Bleach Hill stream between chainages C09_000 and C09_200 was found to be infested with Japanese Knotweed during the baseline survey.
	In advance of the proposed works specialist checks will be needed to ensure that all stands of JK and other invasives species have successfully been eradicated from works areas in advance of commencement of works. Information on the locations of known invasive species is listed in the Invasive Species Management Plans (Appendices 4.1 of EIAR (2018) and 5.2 of EIAR RFI Addendum (2020)) and updated survey data (2021).
	Provided these checks show that the sites are clear in advance of the proposed works, and all biosecurity protocols are correctly followed during works, there is no additional risk associated with the extended works window in relation to invasive species.

4.2.2 Other Environmental Factors

Table 9: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note

EIAR	Additional mitigation measures and features of note
Population and Human Health	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Landscape & Visual	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Roads & Traffic	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Noise & Vibration	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Air Quality & Climate	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Soils, Geology and Hydrogeology	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Archaeology, Architectural, and Cultural Heritage	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Material Assets	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.
Hydrology	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures. <u>Note:</u> Mitigation measures to be implemented for water quality works are described in Section 5.8.1 of the CEMP, Section 12.7.1.1 of the EIAR (2018) and Section 6.3 and Section 6.4.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020).
Major Accidents and Disasters	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.

4.2.3 NIS

No additional mitigation is prescribed than what is proposed in the NIS for this post-confirmation design change. Section 5.2.1 of the CEMP sets out the mitigation and monitoring measures under the NIS.

4.3 Springmount Stream

The suggested change proposes to extend the period for in-stream works at Springmount Stream from the current July to September window to an extended period of May to September (inclusive). The construction

methodology will not change from that which is described in the Section 5.3.2 of Chapter 5 Construction Activities and Implementation of Maintenance Activities of the EIAR RFI Addendum (2020).

4.3.1 **Biodiversity**

Table 10 below sets out the additional mitigation and monitoring measures for biodiversity to be applied for the post-confirmation design change to the period for in-stream works at Springmount Stream.

Table	40.	A statistics of	and the section of the sec	a se al	and a set of a set of a set	
i abie	10:	Additional	mitigation	and	monitoring	measures

EIAR	Additional Mitigation and Monitoring Measures		
Biodiversity	 Fish rescue to be undertaken in advance of dry zone/ isolated area for culvert replacement work. Pumping from the dry area will be with the use of filtration system attached to discharge end of the pipe (e.g., 'Silt buster' or similar). The precise arrangement via use of the Circus Field for filtration and clarification of pumped water to be agreed in advance of work on consultation with the project ECoW and Inland Fisheries Ireland. Duration of the isolation works is to be kept as short as possible. Screen the intake: Any pumps used for over-pumping must be 'fish-friendly' and fitted with appropriate screens to prevent fish being drawn into the pipe/pump. Material that has accumulated upstream of the flow barrier should be carefully removed and properly disposed of e.g., by spreading over the adjacent field. The barrier should be removed as soon as possible after it is no longer needed. 		

Table 11 sets out biodiversity features that should be noted for the post-confirmation design change to the period for in-stream works at Bleach Hill

Biodiversity	Features of note	
Fisheries	During the baseline survey site 7 at Springmount was classed as of poor habitat quality overall. However, the Springmount stream is just 60m upstream of quality habitat at Meadowbrook and as such there are specific sensitivities around lamprey spawning in early spring'/summer period at the Meadowbrook, which may be impacted by runoff from in-stream works at Springmount culvert. Additionally, elvers ascend the catchment during the March-May period. Lastly, adult sea trout tend to run on the Glashaboy catchment beginning in June and use the holding pools at Meadowbrook to rest during their migration.	
	Thus, it is considered that there are additional sensitivities for in-stream receptors at this time of year (May-June), which may be negatively affected by works outside of the fisheries in-stream works period (July-Sept). Negative impacts on these species may interrupt an entire cohort and thus give rise to short term negative effects, significant at the catchment level.	
	Due to the small capacity and minor nature of the Springmount stream it is possible that with extreme caution and adherence to silt mobilization prevention measures which would be effective in preventing any escapement of fine sediment downstream, that no additional impact may occur, even in the case of the heightened sensitivity of downstream receptors at this time of year.	
Otter	The area just downstream of the culvert and around Meadowbrook is rich habitat for Otter. Surveys have shown several holts, slides and other otter signs in the area near to Springmount and downstream toward Meadowbrook. Since Otter are liable to change the location of their breeding holts year on year, it is possible that otter are present within the footprint of proposed works for 2023.	
	It is thus critical that pre-works surveys and checks be carried out in advance of any planned works within the May-June Window, and that adequate time is given for any potential derogation licences where needed (typically 3-4 weeks).	
Bats	None of the culverts surveyed during the baseline surveys for this project were found to have potential for bats. As such, the potential for risk at this location is limited to tree habitats and risk associated with vegetation clearance.	
	Bats becoming active during the May-June seasonal window and may use trees as transient roosting sites. As such, bat checks prior to any necessary and agreed vegetation removal (within this breeding bird season) is required.	
	No additional impacts for bats at this location are foreseen within the May -June window.	
Birds	If all mitigation measures described in the EIAR for birds are correctly carried out, then no additional impacts during the extended May-June window is foreseen.	

Tab

Biodiversity	Features of note
Invasive Species	Pre-works checks will need to show that the sites are clear in advance of the proposed works, and all biosecurity protocols are correctly followed during works. There is no additional risk associated with the extended works window in relation to invasive
	species.

4.3.2 Other environmental factors

Table 12: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note

EIAR	Additional mitigation measures and features of note	
Population & Human Health	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.	
Landscape & Visual	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.	
Roads and Traffic	 Careful consideration by the Contractor will need to be given to the timing of the works in May and June in the construction traffic management plan in order to minimise impacts on school traffic. Any temporary land/road closure will be for a short duration only and would take place during the summer months or at other suitable times, i.e., long weekends or mid-term school holidays to minimise the impact on traffic in the area. Note: Section 14.6.2.1 of Chapter 14 of the 2018 EIAR set out a number of mitigation measures to minimise impacts which included temporary diversion routes, arranging the timing of road closures to coincide with off-peak times and to schedule the more disruptive elements during the summer months to coincide with the school holidays. With these mitigation measures in place, the conclusion was that the proposed scheme would have no significant residual impacts on traffic and the local road network. The increase in the period for in-stream works to include the months of May and June will coincide with the school period. There are a number of schools in close proximity to the proposed works along the Springmount stream which would be accessed via the R639. Should the culvert replacement works be carried out during the summer months or at other suitable times, i.e., long weekends or mid-term school holidays to minimise the impact on the summer months or at other suitable times. 	
	suitable times, i.e., long weekends or mid-term school holidays to minimise the impact on traffic in the area as per the mitigation set out in the EIAR. Careful consideration by the Contractor will need to be given to the timing of the works in May and June in the construction traffic management plan in order to minimise impacts on school traffic and this will require approval with CCC and An Garda Síochána.	
Noise & Vibration	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.	
Air Quality & Climate	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.	
Soils, Geology & Hydrogeology	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.	
Archaeology, Architectural, & Cultural Heritage	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.	
Material Assets	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.	
Hydrology	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures. <u>Note:</u> Mitigation measures to be implemented for water quality works are described in Section 5.8.1 of the CEMP, Section 12.7.1.1 of the EIAR (2018) and Section 6.3 and Section 6.4.1 of the EIAR Addendum (2020).	
Major Accidents & Disasters	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.	

4.3.3 NIS

No additional mitigation is prescribed than what is proposed in the NIS for this post-confirmation design change. Section 5.2.1 of the CEMP sets out the mitigation and monitoring measures under the NIS.

5. Area 4 Additional Works

5.1 Summary of Post-confirmation change

The additional Area 4 works will consist of:

- New foul pipe construction and road reinstatement. See chainage c.77.98m to 112m in dwg. No. 4-080-02.
- New foul pipe construction and road reinstatement; Removal of 200mm of existing road build-up and road re-grading along the R639 at The Grove. See chainage c.112m to 329.33m in dwg. No. 4-080-02 and 4-080-03.
- Remove existing masonry wall, remove 200mm of existing road build-up, utility diversions and construction of a new flood defence embankment (c.112m long) with safety barrier, north of the confirmed pumping station lay-by. See chainage 217.8m to 329.33m in dwg. No. 4-080-01 and 4-080-02.
- Reduce existing masonry wall height to tie into the flood defence embankment and install a safety barrier (c.55m). See chainage 332.70m to 387.32m in dwg. No. 4-080-01.
- Wall repair works to the existing masonry wall (north of the new flood defence embankment) (c. 42m). See chainage 387.32m to 428.88m in dwg. No. 4-080-01.

To accommodate the additional flood protection works, minor changes to the confirmed works have been made to the design and these are:

- Reduce the length of the flood defence wall from 146m to 127.05m. See chainage 90.75m to 217.80m in dwg. No. 4-080-02.
- Reduce the length of wall repair works to the existing masonry wall, south of the pumping station layby, from 38m to 12.77m. See chainage 77.98m to 90.75m in dwg. No. 4-080-02.

5.2 Post-confirmation Surveys

Additional surveys were carried out for biodiversity and archaeology for parts of Area 4 that had not been surveyed for the EIAR (2018) and EIAR Addendum (2020) previously.

5.2.1 Ecology Survey

Table 13 summarises the ecological survey carried out at Area 4 on 7 December 2022 by Dr Niamh Burke.

Biodiversity	Description of Effects
Habitats and Flora	The site for which additional road-raising and embankment works are proposed is a low-lying, D-shaped area of grassland, scrub and woodland, situated between the R639 road and the river. The area is flanked by the R639 from which it is currently separated by a footpath and a stone wall. The habitats found within this area are largely of low value ecologically, although the woodland and scrub represent good habitat for breeding birds. The area of mixed woodland to the north of the site and the woodland bordering the site to the east, represents medium-high potential for roosting bats within the mature specimen trees. Bats may also use the vegetated areas and the river corridor itself to commute and forage. Otter may commute along the river channel adjacent to the site. A mammal hole was identified in the central area of the site (see habitat map, Figure 1) and due to its size and shape, considered to be a potential fox den
Fisheries	As described in detail in section 7.3.1.7 of the EIAR (2018) and section 7.3.2.7 of the EIAR Addendum (2020), the Glashaboy catchment is an important river for fisheries. There are a number of protected species that occur in the catchment including Atlantic Eel, Atlantic Salmon, Lamprey and Brown Trout. There is the potential for pollution/sediment release locally to the river, and for disturbance to species at a local level. Additionally, vegetation maintenance or removal may also affect the in-river temperatures - especially during the summer months, so can affect salmonids (cold water fish) negatively.

 Table 13: Summary of Ecological Survey (7 December 2022)

Biodiversity	Description of Effects
	Depending on the extent of vegetation clearance and the degree of shading remaining, the impact due to riparian vegetation clearance may have a minor to medium impact on fisheries.
Otter	As described in detail in section 6.7 of the EIAR (2018) the Glashaboy catchment is an important river for otter. Several holting sites have been identified on the mainstem channel and on the Glenmore stream. Otter are considered to be of Regional Importance in the context of the Scheme. The rich fisheries habitat provides an abundant food source for the otter populations present on the catchment and within the scheme footprint. Predicted impacts include the potential for pollution and sediment release locally to the river creating deleterious effects on fisheries with knock-on effects for otter. Direct disturbance to otter during construction and / or maintenance activities is also possible. During the 2022 site survey, no otter holts in or near the river bankside were identified. Additionally, the additional Area 4 works proposed as part of this post-confirmation change is located some distance from the river channel ($30 - 100m$). Direct impacts and disturbance to otter are therefore unlikely at this location.
Bats	The EIAR (2018) identified 34 trees with bat roosting potential along the scheme.
	Some works to structures such as the sealing of crevices in bridges were also considered to have a negative impact on bats (Daubenton's and Natterer's bats in particular), and a derogation was applied for and obtained from National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS) with respect to bats for the Scheme, detailing mitigation measures and retention of crevices within structure to accommodate bats in the scope of the works. Where there was need to remove any trees with bat roosting potential, mitigation has also proposed to address this loss of habitat. Section 6.8.6 of the EIAR (2018) details this mitigation. Within the Area 4 suggested additional works footprint there are some areas of woodland (WN6 and WD1), but few of these trees are mature enough to represent bat roosting habitat. However, one mature oak specimen to the north of the site (at the trackway entrance) does represent medium to high potential bat roosting habitat and as such requires retention
	There are also a number of semi-mature trees (Beech, Sycamore, Oak) along the right bank heading north past the trackway, and these may have some bat roosting potential (albeit low) due to ivy cover and other features such as tree limb splits and loose bark.
Birds	The Glashaboy FRS will require construction works to be undertaken north of Cork Harbour SPA. Therefore, no aspects of the works will encroach on the designations, and no part of the permanent flood structures will encroach within the boundaries of any designated sites. The Area 4 works are some 600m upstream of the Cork Harbour SPA and as such represent the closest works proposed along the scheme. As outlined within the EIAR (2018), the main potential impacts are disturbance during works and indirectly through contaminated water entering the tidal habitat and mudflats. The Glashaboy catchment, including the Area 4 proposed works footprint, provides good quality habitat for breeding birds during the March to September timeframe. The woodland and scrub habitat present on site is ideal for a variety of breeding and nesting passerine birds.
	Species observed during the 2022 site visit included bullfinch, chaffinch, wren, robin, sparrow, blackbird but this selection would not be representative of the much wider variety of birds that may be present in a breeding capacity during the spring and summer season.
Invasive Species	As outlined in the EIAR (2018) and the EIAR Addendum (2020), several non-native species are known to be present in the Glashaboy catchment and within the works footprint. In 2017, Japanese Knotweed Ireland carried out an invasive species survey in the study area and contributed to the Invasive Species Management Plan (Appendix 5.1, EIAR Addendum (2020)). The dominant invasives species found in the catchment was Japanese Knotweed, with some smaller stands of Himalayan Balsam and several areas infested with Winter Heliotrope.
	While certain species are controlled strictly under EU legislation - such as Japanese Knotweed, others are not legislated for in the European context although they are classed as 'invasive' and their relative risk or 'Impact Status' posed to biodiversity in Ireland scored as Low, Medium or High, as according to Biodiversity Ireland (Kelly et al., 2013).
	The following plant species considered non-native and invasive, were found on site within the proposed works Area 4.
	Complete eradication of all of these species is advisable in advance of works to reduce the risk of invasive species spread into the wider locality. Japanese Knotweed is controlled under European Legislation, and as such is part of the ongoing treatment programme carried out annually by contractor Japanese Knotweed Control ltd. One stand of Japanese knotweed was identified during the 2022 survey, within the understorey of WN6 woodland to the north of the site (see Habitat map for location in Figure 1 below).

Figure 1: Fossitt (2000) Habitats within the additional site works area. Not to scale

5.2.2 Archaeological Survey

No potential archaeological finds or features were identified during a walkover survey of Area 4 undertaken on the 7th of February 2023 by Lane Purcell. However, the area where the embankment is proposed is greenfield and in the floodplain of the river which is considered to be an Area of Archaeological Potential (AAP) where previously unrecorded subsurface archaeological remains may be present.

Ground preparation works for the embankment will require excavation and ground reduction. This would have a direct effect on any potential subsurface archaeological sites which may be present in this AAP. Where extensive earthmoving is involved there is always the possibility that archaeological material will be uncovered.

The proposed construction of the embankment and safety barrier will require the removal of a section of existing random rubble wall (110m) which is part of the local built cultural heritage. The effect of this impact is assessed as direct slight negative.

The proposed repair works to a section of the same random rubble wall (55m) as part of additional Area 4 works will have a positive effect on the local built cultural heritage.

5.3 Biodiversity

Table 14 below sets out the additional mitigation and monitoring measures for biodiversity to be applied for the post-confirmation design change of additional flood protection works at Area 4.

EIAR	Additional Mitigation and Monitoring Measures			
Biodiversity	 Bats One mature oak tree to the north of the site, at the site entrance adjacent to the R639 holds medium-high bat roosting potential and as such requires retention. The Mature woodland on the western side of the R639 also holds some mature specimen trees which have bat roosting 			

Table 14: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures for biodiversity

EIAR	Additional Mitigation and Monitoring Measures				
	potential. It is assumed that the oak tree to the north of the site as well as all mature trees on the western site boundary will be retained. Any proposal for tree removal in these areas during works will require consultation with the on-site ECoW and an assessment of whether it meant the impact may fall outside the envelope of effects for the scheme.				
	Mammals				
	• The mammal hole identified to the south-centre of the site (see habitat map) will require pre- works checks to ascertain activity status and species,				
	Invasive Species				
	• Several stands of non-native invasive species occur within and at the site boundary to include a stand of Japanese knotweed, snowberry, Winter Heliotrope, Cherry Laurel, Himalayan Honeysuckle, Traveller's joy / Old Mans Beard and Buddleia. Full eradication of all Japanese knotweed is required prior to commencement of works. It is also recommended that all other above-mentioned species are safely removed in advance of works to ensure minimal risk of spreading to other areas. Likewise, strict biosecurity protocols are required at the location - to be implemented by the site manager in consultation with the project ecologist (ECoW). Those involved in the control of invasive species eradication shall obtain the advice of a Registered Pesticide Advisor on the register established by the Minister for Agriculture, Food and the Marine pursuant to Regulation 4 of the Sustainable Use of Pesticides Regulations. All pesticide users must be registered and have the appropriate training necessary to carry out the proposed method of control.				

Table 15 sets out biodiversity features that should be noted for the additional Area 4 works.

Biodiversity	Description of Effects		
Protected Sites	The existing residual effects predicted in the EIAR will not change as a result of the additional Area 4 works. Imperceptible effect.		
Habitats and Flora	The site for which additional road-raising and embankment works are proposed is a low-lying, D-shaped area of grassland, scrub and woodland, situated between the R639 road and the river. The area is flanked by the R639 from which it is currently separated by a footpath and a stone wall. The habitats found within this area are largely of low value ecologically, although the woodland and scrub represent good habitat for breeding birds. The area of mixed woodland to the north of the site and the woodland bordering the site to the east, represents medium-high potential for roosting bats within the mature specimen trees. Bats may also use the vegetated areas and the river corridor itself to commute and forage. Otter may commute along the river channel adjacent to the site.		
	• A mammal hole was identified in the central area of the site (see habitat map, Figure 1 above) and due to its size and shape, considered to be a potential fox den.		
	The habitats identified on site are described in ecological terms in the following sections.		
Fisheries	The area 4 works involve bankside works only, and as such are not considered to pose any additional impact outside the envelope of existing impacts. The mitigation measures as described in the EIAR (2018) section 6.8.9 on Pollution Prevention Measures and in Table 17.1, and in the accompanying CEMP, - section 5.2.1.3 on Bankside works.		
	The EIAR Addendum (2020) section 7.4.3.1 on Bankside Works further details measures to prevent silt and contaminant mobilisation and delivery to the watercourse, and in particular, the effective adoption of surface water controls during embankment construction, to include:		
	'Appropriate erosion and silt controls as described below, to prevent delivery of surface water from the work site into the adjacent watercourses, (these will include trenches, settling ponds, silt fences)'. (See also figure 7.5 in CEMP):		
	Use geotextile to cover any areas of bare soil.		
	Disturb only the areas necessary for immediate construction to limit the amount of erosion and sediment control that is needed.		
	Keep natural vegetation in place and leave topsoil undisturbed as much as possible.		
	Use silt fencing coupled with a silt trap/ sump, to interrupt the pathway along the slope towards the river and intercept any fine sediment.		
	Segment the site into manageable sediment storage areas for using multiple silt fence runs.		
	Provided these mitigation procedures are correctly followed, the potential impact for fisheries at this location should remain within the envelope of residual impacts predicted in the EIAR.		

Table 15: Biodiversity features of note

Biodiversity	Description of Effects	
Otter	The nature of the proposed works is some distance from the riverbank and thus poses minimal risk of impact to disturbance of otter along the watercourse. If all pre-works surveys/checks and mitigation procedures are correctly followed, the potential impact for otter at this location should remain within the envelope of residual impacts predicted for otter in the EIAR.	
Bats	One mature oak tree to the north of the site, at the site entrance adjacent to the R639 holds medium-high bat roosting potential and as such requires retention. The mature woodland on the western side of the R639 also holds some mature specimen trees which have bat roosting potential.	
	No vegetation removal of mature trees is required within the scope of these Area 4 works. The area is also prime commuting and foraging habitat for bats with its lush vegetation, linear hedgerows and treelines, and along the river channel.	
	Provided due care is given to these sensitivities for bat roosting and foraging habitat, and per described in the EIAR, no additional impacts for bats at this location are foreseen.	
Birds	If all mitigation measures described in the EIAR for birds are correctly carried out, then no additional impacts are foreseen. The retention of as much tree and scrub vegetation within this area as possible will benefit breeding birds. Enhancement of the site with further planting of native trees would also be advantageous for bird species and for biodiversity in general.	
Invasive Species	The area within the Area 4 proposed works was found to be infested by Japanese Knotweed during the baseline surveys. Treatment to eradicate these stands is underway. Pre-works checks will need to show that the sites are clear of Japanese Knotweed in advance of the proposed works, and all biosecurity protocols as outlined in the Invasive Species Management Plan (ISMP) are correctly followed during works.	
	Several other species which are considered invasive species but are not listed on the Third schedule of the Habitats Regulations (2011) but which are deemed to pose a risk to biodiversity were identified on site (table 3).	
	Eradication by either hand, mechanical or chemical means (as appropriate) should be undertaken in advance of site works in area which are within the footprint of works. Table 4 below lists the appropriate methods for eradication of the various invasive plant species found on site during the 2022 site visit. Eradication should be caried out by competent and licenced contractors in advance of works. In addition, construction site biosecurity protocols as described in the ISMP (Appendix 5.1, EIAR Addendum (2020)) and in section 5.2.1.3 of the CEMP (Appendix 5.2 of the EIAR Addendum, 2020), should be strictly observed during works to further minimise the risk of invasive species spread, from the site to other areas, or from other areas on construction machinery into the Area 4 site.	
	Provided these protocols are followed, there is no additional risk associated with the additional area 4 works in relation to invasive species, and so should remain within the envelope of residual impacts predicted in the EIAR.	

5.4 Other Environmental Factors

All additional mitigation and monitoring measures for the other environmental factors addressed in the EIAR, apart from biodiversity (see above), are in Table 16 below.

EIAR	Additional mitigation measures and features of note			
Population and Human Health	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.			
Landscape & No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.				
Roads & Traffic	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures. <u>Note:</u> The proposed additional Area 4 works are likely to extend the duration of works beyond what was predicted in the EIAR (20 to 25 weeks). Therefore, the extent and duration of traffic management measures on the R639 may need to be extended for longer than was predicted under the confirmed scheme.			
Noise & Vibration	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.			

Table 16: Additional mitigation and monitoring measures and features of note

EIAR	Additional mitigation measures and features of note				
Air Quality & Climate	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.				
Soils, Geology and HydrogeologyNo additional mitigation or monitoring measures. Note: As noted in the EIAR and the biodiversity survey (December 2022), there are invasive pl 					
Archaeology, Architectural, and Cultural Heritage	 As per Construction Mitigation Measures outlined in Section 13.4.1 of the RFI (2020) the following mitigation is proposed for additional Area 4 works as follows: Area Specific archaeological testing: Advanced licenced archaeological testing will be undertaken of the proposed embankment footprint in Area 4. Archaeological Record (descriptive and photographic) of the impacted section of wall in advance of being removed. As per Remedial Actions outlined in Section 13.5 of the RFI (2020) any archaeological features identified during testing will be fully resolved to professional standards of archaeological practice. Such material will be preserved <i>in situ</i> or preserved by record, as appropriate, as outlined in Policy and Guidelines on Archaeological Excavation – Department of Arts, Heritage, Gaeltacht and the Islands. 				
Material Assets	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.				
Hydrology	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures. <u>Note:</u> The contractor shall implement all mitigation measures described in the EIAR and CEMP to minimise the risk of spills and contamination of the surface water i.e. Glashaboy River.				
Major Accidents and Disasters	No additional mitigation or monitoring measures.				

5.4.1 NIS

No additional mitigation is prescribed than what is proposed in the NIS for this post-confirmation design change. Section 5.2.1 of the CEMP sets out the mitigation and monitoring measures under the NIS.

Appendix J

Otter Derogation Licence - Tree felling works 2022

J.1 Licence No. DER-OTTER-2022-09 (Tree felling works 31 January 2022 - March 2022)

An Roinn Tithíochta, Rialtas Áitiúil agus Oidhreachta Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage

Licence No.: DER – OTTER – 2022–09

EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES (BIRDS AND NATURAL HABITATS) REGULATIONS 2011 (S.I. No 477 of 2011)

DEROGATION LICENCE

Granted under Regulation 54 of the European Communities (Birds and Natural Habitats) Regulations 2011, hereinafter referred to as "the Habitats Regulations".

The Minister for Housing, Local Government and Heritage, (hereinafter referred to as "the Minister"), after obtaining professional advice, is satisfied that: -

(A) this licence is to be granted for the purpose of protecting wild fauna and conserving natural habitats and for imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic nature, and

(B) there is no satisfactory alternative, and the action authorised by this licence will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the population of **OTTERS** referred to below at a favourable conservation status in their natural range.

The Minister, in exercise of the powers conferred on him by Regulation 54 of the Habitats Regulations hereby grants to **Ross Macklin of Triturus Environmental Ltd** on behalf of **Cork County Council**, ("the licensee") a licence in respect of *Lutra lutra*. This licence authorises the following:

- (a) disturbance;
- (b) damage or destruction of breeding sites or resting places;
- ("the authorised actions").

This licence is subject to the terms and conditions set out overleaf.

Terms and Conditions

- 1. This licence is granted solely in respect of the activities specified in connection with tree felling works in conjunction with the Glanmire/Sallybrook Drainage Scheme.
- The authorised actions shall be carried out on the licensee's behalf by, or under the authorisation of Ross Macklin of Triturus Environmental Ltd. ("the scientific agents").
- 3. All activities authorised by this licence, and all equipment used in connection herewith, shall be carried out, constructed and maintained (as the case may be) so as to avoid unnecessary injury or distress to any species of **OTTER**.
- 4. This licence may be modified or revoked, for stated reasons, at any time.
- The actions to which this licence authorises shall be completed between 31st January 2022 and 31st March 2022.
- 6. The works are to comply with TII's 'Guidelines for the treatment of Otters prior to the construction of National Road Scheme.'
- 7. No agent or servant of the licensee, nor any other person, shall carry out any of the activities to which this licence applies unless authorised in writing by the scientific agent. Any such agent, servant or other person shall make a copy of the written authorisation available for and shall produce it on demand to any member of An Garda Síochána or an authorised officer.
- 8. This licence is granted subject to the licensee, including his or her servants and the scientific agent, adhering to the recommendations as set out in the accompanying survey report (Glashaboy Otter Derogation), prepared by Ross Macklin, for Cork County Council, dated 22nd January 2022 and, if specified, any additional mitigation measures requested by the National Parks and Wildlife Service.
- The local NPWS official shall be contacted prior to the commencement of work under the terms of this licence. The local NPWS District Conservation Officer is Claire Deasy who can be contacted at Claire.Deasy@housing.gov.ie, 353 15393694.
- 10. Within 5 working days of being requested to do so by an authorised officer, the licensee shall provide a report on the progress of the work covered by this licence and of the mitigation measures implemented.
- 11. The licensee shall, within 14 days of completion of the actions which this licence authorises, submit a written report to the address below, describing the activities carried out and the mitigation measures implemented in pursuance of this licence.
- 12. The licensee shall provide for and implement a scientific programme (hereinafter referred to as "the scientific programme") of monitoring of any translocated populations and of the operation of the mitigation measures, to investigate and provide data on the effectiveness of the mitigation measures. The scientific

programme will provide for supplementary mitigation measures informed by data obtained from this monitoring programme.

- 13. The licensee shall, within 3 calendar months of the submission of the report mentioned in point 10 above, submit to the signatory at the address below an interim report on the progress and impact of the works carried out under the terms of the licence. The licensee shall submit a further report by the 30th June 2022 (final report) calendar month after the submission of the report under 10 above, setting out the results of the monitoring carried out over these periods and particulars of any supplementary mitigation measures taken.
- 14. The reporting requirements under this licence will continue in force after the completion of the actions which it authorises, until their completion and the licensee shall be responsible for ensuring that these requirements are met in full.

Claime howley

Claire Crowley (a person authorised by the Minister to sign on his behalf)

31/01/2022

Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage National Parks and Wildlife Service Wildlife Licensing Unit R. 2.03 90 North King Street, Smithfield Dublin 7 D07 N7CV

NOTES (1 to 2).

- 1. This licence is granted for the period specified and subject to compliance with the conditions specified. Anything done other than in accordance with the terms of this licence may constitute an offence.
- 2. This licence applies to **otters** and to no other species.

J.2 Glashaboy Flood Relief Scheme Otter Derogation Report, Triturus Environmental Ltd. for NPWS, April 2022

Glashaboy Flood Relief Scheme otter derogation report

Prepared by Triturus Environmental Ltd. for the NPWS

on behalf of ARUP consulting engineers

April 2022

Please cite as:

Triturus (2022). Glashaboy Flood Relief Scheme otter derogation survey report 2022. Report prepared by Triturus Environmental Ltd. for the NPWS on behalf of ARUP consulting engineers. April 2022.

Table of contents

1.	Introduction	3
1.1	Background on Advance Works Tree Felling	3
1.2	Known breeding & resting areas of otter	3
2.	Methodology	5
2.1	Camera Surveys at Holts	5
2.2	Supervision of Tree felling	5
3.	Results & Discussion	7
4.	References	11

1. Introduction

Arup consulting engineers commissioned Triturus Environmental Ltd. to attain a derogation licence for the temporary disturbance of otter during pre-works tree felling as part of the Glanmire-Sallybrook Drainage Scheme. The derogation was also required to facilitate the construction of artificial holts within 150m of known breeding and resting areas of otter as part of mitigation for disturbance to otter during the build of the scheme. The location of the identified holts was recorded as part of otter surveys carried out on the Glashaboy River during April 2021 (Triturus, 2021).

In light of the above and given the likely unavoidable disturbance to the breeding and or resting places of otter a derogation license under Regulation 54 of S.I. No. 477 of 2011 (Birds and Natural Habitats Regulations) was applied for. The derogation licence (number DER-OTTER-2022-09) was granted on the 30th of January 2023.

In addition to the derogation licence and as part of the monitoring requirements of the derogation a programme of scientific monitoring by trail camera under sections 9 and 23(b) of the Wildlife Acts 1976 to 2018 was also undertaken (licence number 3/22, granted on the 18th January 2022). The 'live' surveillance monitoring using cellular trail cameras helped elucidate patterns of activity by otter and establish the occupancy of the holts areas before, during and after tree felling.

1.1 Background on Advance Works Tree Felling

The advance tree felling was required to facilitate the Glashaboy River (Glanmire/Sallybrook) Drainage Scheme which includes the construction of direct flood defences and conveyance improvement measures along the Glashaboy River and its tributaries. The direct defences proposed include flood walls and embankments with the conveyance improvements consisting of localised channel widening and deepening and the introduction of, or replacement of, culverts. Due to existing residential and business property locations susceptible to flooding adjacent to the river there is a very limited scope to locate defences outside of the riparian corridor. Therefore, to construct these defences existing trees along the banks of the river were required. The advance tree felling works were being carried out due to the various time constraints relating to environmental factors (for example in-stream works period etc.) so as not to adversely delay the main project schedule.

1.2 Known breeding & resting areas of otter

Total channel walkover otter surveys were conducted in April 2021 by Triturus Environmental Ltd. to record otter signs throughout the Glashaboy River covering the Flood Relief Scheme extents. The surveys recorded both otter holts in the vicinity of the advance works tree felling areas and the proposed location for artificial holt construction (see Table 1 and Figures 1-3 below). Those holts situated on the scheme overlapping the proposed works areas (i.e. screened in if they were situated within 150m of the works areas) are presented on Table 1 below.

In total, 5 otter holts were recorded within the study area overlapping tree felling areas (**Table 1.1 & Figure 2.2**). The holt locations were situated on the Glashaboy River riparian areas at **1.** Sallybrook (single holt N2), **2.** East of Glanmire GAA pitch (holt cluster N3, N4 & N5) and **3.** in the Circus Field north of Meadowbrook Bridge. Given the scope and nature of the proposed tree felling works in relation to

the locations of the existing holts, disturbance was unavoidable. While there was a means for disturbance to otter at holt cluster N3-N5, albeit low, the location of the holt within 25m of the works area meant this holt area was also included in the derogation licence. However, it must be stated that no permanent loss of the holts identified overlapping the tree felling areas was required and disturbance was indirect and temporary only.

Table 1.1 – Summary of Otter Holts Screened in by virtue of distance from works (see also Figures 1,2 & 3)

Holt Number	Holt Location (see also appended otter report Triturus 2021)	Distance from works (see Figures 1-3)	Rationale for monitoring	ITM (Coordinates)
 Holt N2 (Sallybrook) 	Adjoining proposed tree felling at Sallybrook	Adjacent to tree felling area	Indirect disturbance to holt (nearby tree felling)	572477, 576830
2. Holt N3, N4 & N5 (holt cluster)	Holts situated east of Glanmire GAA field on Millrace Channel Island. These are situated to the north of proposed artificial holt area at end of Millrace Channel Island.	25m to north of proposed artificial holt construction	Indirect disturbance to holt (construction of artificial holts – 2 number to south of holt cluster)	572676, 575837
3. Holt N6	Holt situated under root system of a large tree in the Circus Field north of Meadowbrook Bridge. Holt adjoining proposed tree felling area.	Adjacent to tree felling area	Indirect disturbance to holt (nearby tree felling)	572678, 575586

2. Methodology

2.1 Camera Surveys at Holts

Three Secacam Pro Plus mobile LTE trail cameras were positioned on riparian trees above normal flood levels in the vicinity of three holts overlapping the proposed tree felling areas. The cameras were positioned between 5m and 10m from the holts. The cameras recorded time, date, temperature and other attributes and are triggered by mammal movement using infra-red sensors. The cameras also recorded live imagery via mobile phone network with live images sent to a mobile phone. This minimised the requirement for regular movement of the cameras and thus reduced disturbance near holt areas during monitoring. In advance of commencement of the survey the local ranger of the NPWS (Claire Deasy) was be notified. A site visit was also undertaken with the NPWS during December 2021 to inform local staff of the proposals in advance of commencement of works. The trail camera monitoring was undertaken between the 14th of January 2021 and the 31st March 2022.

Holt Number	Holt Location (see also appended	Rationale for ITM (Coordinates)	
	otter report Triturus 2021)	monitoring	
Holt N2	Adjoining proposed tree felling at	Indirect disturbance	572477 576830
	Sallybrook	to holt (nearby tree	
		felling)	
Holt N3, N4 &	Holts to north of proposed artificial	Indirect disturbance	572676 575837
N5 (holt	holt area at end of Millrace Channel	to holt (construction	
cluster)	Island	of artificial holts – 2	
		number to south of	
		holt cluster)	
Holt N6	Adjoining proposed tree felling	Indirect disturbance	572678 575586
	upstream of Hazelwood Bridge (aka	to holt (nearby tree	
	'Circus Field')	felling)	

Table 2.1 Location of Otter Holt Monitoring areas by trail camera

2.2 Supervision of Tree felling

Triturus Environmental Ltd. staff supervised tree felling works at Sallybrook and Hazelwood between the 3rd and 18th February 2023.

Tree cutting occurred on the same bank as holt N6 on the Glashaboy River (west bank) in the vicinity of Hazelwood Bridge in the Circus Field. A 10m buffer was marked around the holt entrance and all overhanging low lying tree limbs and scrub were maintained to preserve cover (seclusion) for otter. Felling in the vicinity of the holt was completed within two days to minimise the duration of works.

Tree cutting at holt N2 was on the east bank (opposite bank to holt) meaning no direct disturbance occurred. In advance of works the otter holt was marked with red hazard tape to ensure locations were visible to tree surgeons. This ensured that where cutting was undertaken no trees would fall in the direction of the holt. Felling in the vicinity of the holt was completed within two days to minimise the duration of works.

Figure 2.2 Overview of holt monitoring areas relative to tree felling and artificial holt construction

3. Results & Discussion

Otter breeding (holts) and resting areas (couches) are especially sensitive to direct human disturbance (Mason & Macdonald, 2009) and there is a known clear association between the location of holts and low disturbance areas of river channel on the Glashaboy River (pers. obs). This same local disturbancerelated trend has been repeatedly observed in other urban and peri-urban watercourses across Ireland (e.g. Macklin et al., 2019; Brazier & Macklin, 2020; Triturus pers. obs.). Otter reproductive success is known to be higher in less disturbed habitats and demonstrates a preferential fidelity for low disturbance areas of channel (Loy et at., 2009; Ruiz-Olmo et al., 2011). Furthermore, well-developed and preserved riparian zones such as those found on the Glashaboy can buffer anthropogenic impacts, and healthy ecological corridors with good connectivity are likely to play an increasingly important role in otter dispersion and commuting considering climate change impacts (Cianfrani et al., 2018).

In light of the potential for disturbance during the pre-works felling tree felling supervision with site specific mitigation was undertaken in conjunction with the advice from local NPWS staff (Claire Deasy). The approach that was agreed between Triturus Environmental Ltd. and NPWS resulted in no observed significant impacts to the behaviour of otter with otter activity remaining consistent before and after the tree felling at two of the three active holts monitored (Table 3.1). This was achieved by minimising encroachment directly on the holt areas, minimizing the duration of works and by maintaining cover around the holt areas by selective tree felling with all works undertaken during daylight only. The holt areas were demarcated by hazard tape and the arborists were informed of where to avoid cutting and to minimise any encroachment on the holts (**Plates 3.1 & 3.2**). The works were monitored by trail camera monitoring before and after tree felling. This can be considered as evidence of no significant disturbance as otter continued to use the holt areas post felling (**Table 3.1**).

Holt Number	Holt Location (see also appended otter report Triturus 2021)	Rationale for monitoring	Active before tree felling	Active after tree felling	Significant disturbance observed Y/N
Holt N2	Adjoining proposed tree felling at Sallybrook	Indirect disturbance to holt (nearby tree felling)	Yes	Yes	No
Holt N3, N4 & N5 (holt cluster)	Holts to north of proposed artificial holt area at end of Millrace Channel Island	Indirect disturbance to holt (construction of artificial holts – 2 number to south of holt cluster)	Νο	No (no activity before or after works)	No
Holt N6	Adjoining proposed tree felling upstream of Hazelwood Bridge (aka 'Circus Field')	Indirect disturbance to holt (nearby tree felling)	Yes	Yes	No

Table 3.1 Location of Otter Holt Monitoring areas by trail camera

Plate 3.1 Tree felling in the 'Circus Field' at Meadowbrook showing the preservation of vegetation overhanging holt No. N6 on the Glashaboy River at Meadowbrook. Vegetation area that was preserved overhanding the holt was marked with yellow hazard tape from above to ensure drivers avoided inadvertent cutting

Plate 3.2 Tree felling did not occur on the west bank of the Glashaboy River at Sallybrook and the holt area was marked during cutting to ensure no inadvertent damage to vegetation

Plate 3.3 Otter activity before tree felling at Sallybrook holt No. N2

Plate 3.4 Otter activity after tree felling at Sallybrook holt No. N2

Plate 3.5 Otter activity before tree felling at Meadowbrook holt No. N6

Plate 3.6 Otter activity after tree felling at Meadowbrook holt No. N6, camera angle changed due to vegetation growth

4. References

ARUP (2016). Glashaboy (Glanmire/Sallybrook) Drainage Scheme - Environmental Impact Statement, Prepared for Cork County Council and Office of Public Works. November 2016. Available at: https://www.floodinfo.ie/frs/media/filer_public/1d/4e/1d4e19ac-45a8-4fea-a52a-da9370b550b5/234334 volume 1 eis main text -resized.pdf

Brazier, B. & Macklin, R. (2020). Dún Laoghaire-Rathdown otter survey. Report prepared by Triturus Environmental Ltd. for Dún Laoghaire-Rathdown County Council. November 2020.

Chanin, P.R.F. (2003). Ecology of the European otter. Conserving Natura 2000 Rivers Ecology Series No. 10. English Nature, Peterborough.

Cianfrani, C., Broennimann, O., Loy, A., & Guisan, A. (2018). More than range exposure: Global otter vulnerability to climate change. Biological Conservation, 221, 103-113.

Loy, A., Carranza, M.L., Cianfrani, C., D'Alessandro, E., Bonesi, L., Di Marzio, P. & Regiani, G. (2009). Otter *Lutra lutra* population expansion: assessing habitat suitability and connectivity in southern Italy. Folia Zoologica, 58(3), 309.

Macklin, R., Brazier, B. & Sleeman, P. (2019). Dublin City otter survey. Report prepared by Triturus Environmental Ltd. for Dublin City Council as an action of the Dublin City Biodiversity Action Plan 2015-2020. Report available at: <u>https://a.storyblok.com/f/47927/x/609e85ec32/dublin-city-otter-report-2019.pdf</u>

Mason, C.F., & Macdonald, S.M. (2009). Otters: ecology and conservation. Cambridge University Press.

NPWS (2019). The Status of EU Protected Habitats and Species in Ireland. Volume 3: Specie Assessments. Unpublished NPWS report. Edited by: Deirdre Lynn and Fionnuala O'Neill.

Ruiz-Olmo, J., Batet, A., Mañas, F., & Martínez-Vidal, R. (2011). Factors affecting otter (*Lutra lutra*) abundance and breeding success in freshwater habitats of the northeastern Iberian Peninsula. European Journal of Wildlife Research, 57(4), 827-842.

Triturus (2021). Glashaboy Flood Relief Scheme otter survey 2021. Report prepared by Triturus Environmental Ltd. for ARUP. December 2021.

Triturus Environmental Ltd.

42 Norwood Court,

Rochestown,

Co. Cork,

T12 ECF3.

J.3 Letter from Triturus Environmental Ltd. to NPWS